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BRIEF CHRONOLOGY OF DANIEL BOONE’S LIFE





  1702 George Boone III and Mary Maugridge Boone in Bradninch, Devonshire, England, join the Cullompton Meeting of the Society of Friends (Quakers).




  1717 George Boone III and the rest of his family arrive in Philadelphia, following his sons George IV and Squire and daughter Sarah, who came in 1713.




  1720 Squire Boone marries Sarah Morgan at Gwyneth Meeting House, September 23.




  1734 Daniel Boone, sixth child of Squire and Sarah, born November 2 (October 22, Old Style).




  1747 Daniel is given his first “short rifle gun” and becomes an expert hunter.




  1750 Squire Boone sells his property in Pennsylvania and moves his family to Linnville Creek, near Harrisonburg, Virginia. The next year they go on to the Yadkin Valley in North Carolina.




  1755 Daniel serves with the North Carolina militia in the French and Indian War and is present at Braddock’s Defeat. Meets John Findley, who has been to Kentucky.




  1756 Daniel marries Rebecca Bryan August 14.




  1757 James Boone, first son, born May 3.




  1759 Israel Boone born January 25. Because of Indian attacks Daniel and his family move to Culpeper, Virginia. Boone returns to North Carolina to hunt and serve in the militia.




  1760 Susannah Boone born November 2. Boone hunts beyond the Blue Ridge Mountains.




  1762 The Boone family returns to the Yadkin after peace is made with the Cherokees. Jemima Boone born October 4.




  1765 Squire Boone dies January 2. Daniel and his brother Squire II join party to explore Florida.




  1766 Levina Boone born March 23.




  1768 Rebecca Boone born May 26. Regulator rebellion builds in North Carolina.




  1769 Daniel, John Findley, John Stewart, and three others leave for Kentucky May 1. Regulator activity increases in North Carolina. Daniel Morgan Boone born December 23.




  1771 Daniel returns to the Yadkin from Kentucky in May as Regulators surrender to colonial militia.




  1773 Jesse Bryan Boone born May 23. Boone and William Russell attempt to settle in Kentucky but are turned back by an Indian attack in which son James is killed.




  1774 Boone and Michael Stoner ride into Kentucky to warn surveyors of Indian hostilities. Lord Dunmore’s War ends with treaty in October after the Battle of Point Pleasant.




  1775 Boone leads a crew to hack a trace through Cumberland Gap for the Transylvania Company, which has purchased much of Kentucky from the Cherokees. Revolutionary War breaks out in April with the battles of Lexington and Concord in Massachusetts. William Boone born in July and dies.




  1776 Jemima Boone and two Callaway girls are abducted by Indians on July 14 and later rescued. A copy of the Declaration of Independence reaches Boonesborough in August.




  1777 Shawnees attack Boonesborough and Boone is wounded. His mother, Sarah, dies in North Carolina.




  1778 Boone is captured by the Shawnees near the Blue Licks and is a prisoner at Chillicothe for four months. He escapes in June and defends Boonesborough successfully against a Shawnee-British raid. Afterward he is charged with treason and exonerated.




  1779 On Christmas Day Boone, with family and friends, moves to Boone’s Station near future Athens, Kentucky.




  1780 Boone is robbed of about twenty thousand dollars near Williamsburg, Virginia.




  1781 Boone serves in the Virginia legislature. Nathan Boone born March 2. Cornwallis surrenders at Yorktown, October 17.




  1782 As lieutenant colonel of the Fayette County militia Boone fights at the Battle of the Blue Licks, where his son Israel is killed.




  1783–84 Boone moves to Marble Creek and meets John Filson, who publishes “The Adventures of Col. Daniel Boon” in 1784.




  1785–86 Boone moves his family to Limestone on the Ohio River, where he operates a store, tavern, and surveying business and is sued by former clients over disputed land claims.




  1788 Boone takes a keelboat load of ginseng to Maryland, and on a visit to Pennsylvania he decides to leave Kentucky and move to Point Pleasant, Virginia, on the Ohio River.




  1789 At Point Pleasant Boone keeps a small store and continues to hunt and trap.




  1791 Boone serves as a lieutenant colonel in the militia and is elected to the Virginia legislature. He agrees to supply militia companies in western Virginia but fails to fulfill his contract.




  1792 Boone moves to remote cabin near present Charleston, West Virginia.




  1795 Boone returns to Kentucky with Rebecca and lives on Brushy Fork of Hinkston Creek in son Daniel Morgan’s cabin. He hunts bears on the Big Sandy and is summoned to court repeatedly in land disputes.




  1798 Son Daniel Morgan Boone returns to Kentucky from Missouri with invitation from Lieutenant Governor Trudeau for Boone to settle there in Spanish territory. Boone moves to the Little Sandy River to prepare for immigration to Missouri.




  1799 Boone and family leave Kentucky for Femme Osage Creek in Missouri. The next year, Boone is appointed “syndic” for that region.




  1800 Susannah Boone Hays dies of fever.




  1802 Daughter Levina Boone Scholl dies in Kentucky.




  1803 The United States negotiates the Louisiana Purchase. Boone has been given about ten thousand acres of land in Missouri but has not made improvements or completed the paperwork for the deeds.




  1805 Daughter Rebecca Boone Goe dies in Kentucky.




  1806 Boone learns the American government may not recognize his Missouri land claims. He continues to hunt, trap, and explore the region.




  1809 Boone petitions Congress for recovery of his land claims.




  1810 Boone joins a hunting expedition to the upper Missouri, going perhaps as far as the Yellowstone.




  1813 Rebecca Boone dies March 18 and is buried on Tuque Creek.




  1814 Boone is awarded one thousand arpents of land, most of which he has to sell to pay debts.




  1820 Boone dies in his son Nathan’s large stone house and is buried beside Rebecca.




  1845 Daniel’s and Rebecca’s bodies are brought to Frankfort, Kentucky, for reburial.




  
Introduction





  FORGET the coonskin cap; he never wore one. Daniel Boone thought coonskin caps uncouth, heavy, and uncomfortable. He always wore a beaver felt hat to protect him from sun and rain. The coonskin-topped Boone is the image from Hollywood and television. In fact, much that the public thinks it knows about Boone is fiction. He was neither the discoverer of Kentucky nor the first settler in the Bluegrass region. He did not discover the Cumberland Gap, known to the Indians as Ouasiota, nor was he the first white man to dig ginseng in the North American wilderness. And though he held the rank of lieutenant colonel in the militia more than once, he was for the most part a reluctant soldier and Indian fighter. As one of his first biographers said, “He never delighted in shedding human blood, even that of his enemies in war, and avoided it whenever he could.” The real story of Daniel Boone is more complicated than the fiction, stranger, and far more interesting.




  It was Emerson who said, “All history resolves itself very easily into the biography of a few stout and earnest persons.” Certainly Boone was one of those stout and earnest individuals.




  Even in his own time Boone had a number of detractors, debunkers, and critics. He was at different times accused of treason, fraud, and hypocrisy and was once court-martialed, only to be exonerated and given a promotion by the board of presiding officers. He was blamed for dishonest and incompetent land surveying, and sued again and again for debt. Yet surviving records show he was a competent surveyor, though sometimes careless with clerical and legal work. By the end of his life he had paid off all that his accusers said he owed. He was also blamed for siding with Indians, accused of being a “white Indian,” yet he fortified and defended Boonesborough against an attack led by his adopted father, the Shawnee chief Blackfish. Boone was also accused of being a Tory, a British sympathizer, during the American Revolution, yet he fought the British-led Indian attacks on Kentucky forts again and again.




  “For me, the most striking and surprising result of a closer look at Boone is the way his sterling moral character shines steadily through all the vicissitudes of his remarkable life,” the scholar Nelson L. Dawson wrote in 1998.




  Known as a scout and hunter, Boone became a patriarch, serving in legislatures and militias and on boards of trustees. A humble person who described himself as “a common man,” Boone was famous in both America and Europe. At one time he may have owned upward of thirty thousand acres of land in Kentucky; he ran a tavern, a store, and a warehouse, and he traded furs, hides, ginseng, horses, even slaves, and land. He lost it all. A recognized leader all his life, he moved often as a gypsy. With little formal education and uncertain spelling, he read a number of books and had a flair for language, even eloquence.




  Like most great figures in American history, Boone has been both lucky and unlucky in his biographers. The schoolmaster and sometime surveyor and land speculator John Filson (ca. 1747–88) made Boone famous when Boone turned fifty in 1784. Filson’s Discovery, Settlement and Present State of Kentucke included a long chapter called “The Adventures of Col. Daniel Boon,” written in the first person as though it was autobiography. The little book, destined to become a classic, was translated into French and German and pirated and paraphrased by a number of other authors. Reprinted by Gilbert Imlay in A Topographical Description of the Western Territory of North America, published in London in 1793, the narrative made Boone famous in Britain and helped inspire such budding Romantic poets as Wordsworth, Coleridge, and Robert Southey.




  Only recently have we come to appreciate how much American Romanticism may have influenced British Romanticism. But the impact of Boone’s story and legend on William Bartram, Wordsworth, Byron, and other writers of the Romantic era is only the beginning of the story of the Boone legend and biography. Few other Americans have had their lives told so often and in such a wide range of styles, combining truth, insight, myth, hearsay, and outright fabrication. Because he became a figure of American folklore even while alive, Boone has been thought by many to be virtually a fictional character, subject of tall tales like Mike Fink the Keelboatman, or even Paul Bunyan. A professor with a PhD in English and tenure at a major university once said to me, “I never realized Daniel Boone was an actual person; I thought he was a creation of folklore.” I told her that even though she was wrong she was also half right, because the Boone most people know about is largely the creation of folklore. It is hard to rescue figures like Daniel Boone and Johnny Appleseed from the distortions of television and Walt Disney. The folklore and legends are part of the story too but should be identified and separated from the facts. When viewed in the larger context of the colonial age, the Boone legend is in many ways typical of the way stories and figures of quest and conquest were romanticized, as Europeans conquered lands and peoples. Yet many aspects of Boone’s character are atypical, virtually unique.




  While Boone more than once told visitors that Filson’s account of his life was “true, every word truth,” he was not so pleased with Daniel Bryan’s would-be epic poem The Mountain Muse published in 1813, which portrayed him as a ridiculously heroic figure, a kind of American Moses. “Such productions ought to be left until the person was put in the ground,” he is reported to have said. Of the rumor that he still went hunting at the age of eighty, he observed to Rev. John Mason Peck, “I would not believe that tale if I told it myself. I have not watched the deer’s lick for ten years. My eyesight is too far gone to hunt.”




  During Boone’s later years many accounts of his exploits and adventures were published in newspapers in America and Britain. Most took their details and rhetoric from Filson, and some contained an element of truth but also included rumors and fancy, often portraying the old woodsman as a fierce Indian killer, wrestling bears and panthers in hand-to-hand combat. More than once he read accounts of his own death in newspapers.




  The stories that formed around Boone’s name while he was alive were only the seeds of what would come later. The Reverend Timothy Flint, who had visited Boone in 1816, published the first book-length biography, Biographical Memoir of Daniel Boone, in 1833. The book was very popular and for its time a best seller. But while it contained some valuable information it was also filled with colorful yarns, such as the improbable story of young Daniel almost shooting his future bride, Rebecca, while fire hunting on the Yadkin. When questioned about some of the exaggerations in his narrative, Flint is supposed to have answered he was not writing a book “for use but to sell.” It was Flint who gave to the world the most famous Boone quote about wanting “more elbow room.”




  Another itinerant minister who wrote about the western frontier, Rev. John Mason Peck, visited Boone in December of 1818, two years before the woodsman’s death. Expecting to find a rough backwoodsman, Peck was surprised by Boone’s calm good manners, his modesty and cheerfulness. Peck was struck by the affection in which Boone was held by his children and grandchildren and neighbors. When Peck published his Life of Boone in 1847, he stressed the image of Boone as peacemaker, diplomat, reluctant Indian fighter, and instrument of Manifest Destiny. Boone’s descendants much preferred Peck’s account to Flint’s. It was Peck who told the story of Boone’s journey back to Kentucky to pay his debts after he sold the land Congress had awarded him in Missouri. According to Peck, Boone then returned to Missouri with only fifty cents in his pocket. “No one will say, when I am gone, ‘Boone was a dishonest man,’” he quipped.




  Boone was most fortunate of all in attracting the scholar and writer Lyman Copeland Draper, who never finished or published his Life of Daniel Boone. A native of upstate New York, Draper (1815–91) worked as a clerk, editor, and journalist but devoted his life to collecting information and documents for the study of the western frontier and the Revolutionary War era. He borrowed, bought, begged, copied—some said stole—thousands of documents and interviewed hundreds of survivors and descendants. He corresponded with hundreds more and seemingly came in contact with everyone who ever lived in the frontier Ohio Valley or was descended from the pioneers there.




  Draper interviewed Daniel Boone’s youngest son, Nathan, and Nathan’s wife, Olive Van Bibber Boone, at length in 1851, at their home in Greene County, Missouri. As secretary of the State Historical Society of Wisconsin in Madison, Draper collected and hoarded documents and transcripts, rather than completing his projected biographies of Boone and George Rogers Clark and other pioneers. At his death he left an ocean of interviews and papers scholars have been struggling through and sifting ever since. Draper was small in stature but a giant of American historical scholarship. “I am a small bit of a fellow,” he wrote to one correspondent. “Yet small as I am, and as ‘good for nothing’ as I often think myself, I yet feel that I have something to do.”




  One of the assistants Draper trained at the State Historical Society of Wisconsin was Reuben Gold Thwaites (1853–1913). When Draper retired, Thwaites succeeded him as director of the society and became one of the most important editors and writers on frontier history of his time. In 1902 Thwaites published his own biography of Boone, called simply Daniel Boone. It was the first published life of Boone to make use of the hoard of documents Draper had collected.




  In 1920 a professor of mathematics at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Archibald Henderson, published The Conquest of the Old Southwest to much acclaim. Henderson was a descendant of Judge Richard Henderson, founder of the Transylvania Company and Boone’s employer, and he stressed the significance of the Transylvania venture in the founding of Kentucky and Tennessee. Henderson planned to follow that history with a life of Daniel Boone, but a peculiar chemistry began to work on the professor as he proceeded with his project. He decided that his ancestor Richard Henderson was the real hero of the story of Kentucky and that Daniel Boone was little more than a hired hand. He became a debunker of Boone, and at Fourth of July celebrations and memorial ceremonies he made a spectacle of himself attempting to build up the reputation of his ancestor and belittle the scout and hunter who had hacked Boone’s Trace and given his name to Boonesborough. In the end Archibald Henderson was unable to write the biography, and his research material was left to the University of North Carolina as the Henderson Papers, a valuable resource in the North Carolina Collection.




  Probably the most successful biography of Boone ever published was John Bakeless’s 1939 volume, Master of the Wilderness: Daniel Boone. Bakeless, a historian and professor of journalism at New York University, drew heavily on modern research of the frontier period and made extensive use of the Draper Collection at Madison. The book went through several editions and is still in print. Many Boone enthusiasts still consider it the best Boone biography ever written. However, Bakeless had little interest in Indians and Indian culture, except to portray them usually as savages, or in the slaves who were present in so much of the activity of the frontier. Implicit in much of Bakeless’s narrative is the assumption of the superiority of white culture destined to subdue and transform the wilderness into the ideal of American civilization.




  In 1992 John Mack Faragher published Daniel Boone: The Life and Legend of an American Pioneer and brought to his study of Boone a formidable knowledge and insight about Indian culture and the impact of Indian culture on white culture. Faragher took Boone studies up to a new level with his sensitivity and erudition concerning Native American history. He also included in his portrait of Boone the rumor that Boone was not the father of one of his children, begotten while Boone was away hunting or in the militia in January 1762. Faragher makes the story exciting and plausible, a significant element in drawing the characters of Boone and his wife, Rebecca. Yet most Boone scholars have considered the story as little more than a composite of contradictory rumors, passed on by elderly informants with vague memories, improbable if not impossible.




  A major service to Boone scholarship has been performed in recent years by the scholar Ted Franklin Belue. In 1998 he published a transcribed and annotated edition of Draper’s unfinished Life of Daniel Boone. Only those who have tried to read Draper’s notes and documents on microfilm can appreciate the value and difficulty of Belue’s achievement. With this volume Belue put at our fingertips the heart of Draper’s work on Boone and, through his notes and chronology, provided an invaluable resource for further study.




  In 1999 the Kentucky architect and Boone scholar Neal O. Hammon published My Father, Daniel Boone, a compilation of the interviews Draper conducted with Boone’s youngest son, Nathan, and Nathan’s wife, Olive, in 1851. Gathering the material from several locations in the Draper Collection, Hammon arranged the pieces into a coherent narrative, making easily accessible the words of our most reliable informant about Daniel Boone.




  Michael A. Lofaro published Daniel Boone: An American Life, a short biography for popular audiences, in 2003. Lofaro’s book presents the Boone narrative in thrilling, condensed form, yet also provides one of the most useful bibliographic and scholarly resources we have to date.




  Among the younger historians, I have learned the most from Stephen Aron, author of How the West Was Lost and American Confluence. Aron is especially adept at showing the complexity and flux of events on the American frontier and placing those events in the context of continental and even world history.




  It requires a certain bravado to enter a field as crowded as Boone biography. Of major figures in early American history, only Washington and Franklin and Jefferson have had their stories told more often and in greater detail. What recklessness or delusion could tempt a writer to take on a subject so often studied, attacked, dramatized?




  My fascination with Boone goes back to boyhood. My father, who was a wonderful storyteller, had a lifelong interest in Daniel Boone and loved to quote the hunter and explorer. Since Daniel’s mother was Sarah Morgan, my father thought we were related by blood. Though I have not found more than a distant family connection, I always felt a kinship with the hunter and trapper and scout.




  The classic author I struggled with and learned most from as a young writer was Henry David Thoreau. Thoreau’s observation, knowledge, wisdom, integrity, artistry, and stubbornness remain unsurpassed in American literature and culture. And more than any other single author Thoreau expresses much that was likely the experience and aspiration and genius of Boone. Thoreau put into sentences the poetry and thought Boone had lived.




  Many boys, both old and young, feel a connection with Boone, but growing up in the mountains of western North Carolina in the 1940s and 1950s, hunting and trapping, fishing and wandering the mountain trails, I may have felt the kinship more literally than most. Living on a small farm, without a truck or tractor or car, plowing our fields with a horse, keeping milk and butter in the springhouse, listening to stories about the old days by the fireplace or on the porch in summer, I always felt an intimate contact with the past, with the Indians, with the frontier. Working in the creek bottoms day after day, I turned up arrowheads and pieces of pottery. The Indians seemed to haunt the ground beneath my feet, and the laurel thickets, and the mutter of creek and waterfall. Once after a flood scoured away several feet of alluvial soil in the field by the river, I found the charred remains of a campfire perhaps a thousand years old.




  It was writing the novel Brave Enemies, set in the American Revolution and culminating at the Battle of Cowpens in South Carolina in 1781, that led me back to Boone. As I did my research on the Revolutionary period in the Carolinas, I grew more and more preoccupied with life on the frontier, where white settlers mingled and fought with and learned from the Native populations. I came to see what an extraordinary story that was, the collision of different worlds right in my own backyard, as British confronted French, Indians fought Indians, white Regulators confronted the colonial government, and finally Americans fought the Crown. And through it all the thread of slavery stretched like a poison filament from earliest colonial times to the nineteenth century and Civil War.




  I found Boone a much more complex person than I had noticed before. Why was he remembered, romanticized, revered, and written about when many other figures on the Kentucky frontier were pretty much forgotten? I wanted to find out what it was about Daniel Boone that made him lodge in the memory of all who knew him and made so many want to tell his story. How was a scout and hunter turned into such an icon of American culture?




  In the course of my research I discovered that Boone had been a Freemason and that his membership in that society connected him in unexpected ways with leading figures of the American Revolution, such as Benjamin Franklin and Washington, and with the new spirit of brotherhood, liberty, and reason spreading through Europe and North America. No other Boone scholar seemed to have noticed Boone’s association with Masonry. I also found that Boone was a great dreamer, and a significant part of his dream was a vision of hunting and living at peace with the Indians, in the wilderness over the mountains. It was a vision and a longing that set him apart from many other hunters of the time.




  Boone many times referred to himself as a woodsman. It was the description he seemed to prefer, the identity he chose to claim. When he wrote to Gov. Isaac Shelby in 1796 asking for the contract to rebuild the Wilderness Road, Boone said, “I am no Statesman I am a Woodsman and think My Self . . . Capable of Marking and Cutting that Rode.” When young I studied engineering and wanted to build roads also. Many of the narratives I have written concern path blazing and road building. That was another aspect of Boone I felt a deep connection with: Boone the artisan and artificer, Boone the road maker.




  Some have said the name Boone comes from the Norman Bohun, from the nobleman Henry de Bohun (1176–1220). The Boones had lived in Devonshire for centuries, working as weavers and blacksmiths, before they immigrated to Pennsylvania. Boone’s mother was Sarah Morgan, descended from Welsh Quakers from Merionethshire in the mountains of North Wales.




  In one of the happiest accidents of punning etymologies known, Americans acquired the word boondocks from Tagalog in the Philippines, and from that wonderful word, meaning “mountains,” derived the term boonies, referring to the hinterlands, the backcountry. Many wrongly assume boonies comes to us from the name Boone, explorer of hinterlands and backcountry. And we also have the Old French word boon as in “boon companion” from the Latin bonus, meaning “good.” And from Old Norse we have boon, meaning a “blessing or benefit,” coming from a word that meant “prayer.” Boon is also an Old English word for the rough fiber taken out of flax as it is prepared for spinning into thread. The Boones had been weavers for generations in Devonshire. Boone was fortunate in his name, if not in his business enterprises.




  “They may say what they please of Daniel Boone, he acted with wisdom in that matter,” Simon Kenton remarked about rumors of Boone’s dishonesty and treachery once when he surrendered some salt boilers in 1778. Kenton meant that the truth of the man’s deeds and character would rise above all the clouds of rumor spread by detractors. And for more than two centuries it has.
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CHAPTER ONE


  


  The Mother World of the Forest





  1734–1750




  The Quakers of Devonshire lived as farmers and weavers in hamlets and mountain valleys. They had broken away from the official church and been punished by fines and ostracism, sometimes by prison and whippings. As Quakers they could not hold office or vote. As pacifists it was against their faith to serve in the army or navy. They could not attend school or train for the learned professions. As followers of George Fox, they called themselves Friends, and they did not have a hierarchy of clergy or ritualized service. They met in silence and spoke only as the spirit stirred them. The ties of neighbors and among the Friends were very close. Though often persecuted and exploited, they attempted to live lives of calm goodwill and honest work, farming and weaving linen and wool, blacksmithing and helping one another.




  The Boones were Quakers from Devonshire in the extreme southwest of England. Devonshire is one of the most beautiful counties of Great Britain, a place of highlands and moors covered with heather and bracken, high rocky hills, long pleasant valleys running down to the sea. The river Exe rises out of a bog in the north and runs through Brampton, Tiverton, Stoke Canon, Exeter. The Boone family had been settled in this area for at least two hundred years, living primarily around Exeter, an ancient town with buildings dating from Roman, Saxon, Norman, and Tudor times. Exeter’s splendid cathedral dated from the eleventh century and had been rebuilt between 1280 and 1370 as a Gothic masterpiece.




  Exeter had long been a center for the weaving and dyeing trades, producing a woolen cloth of serge weave. But it was also a market center where many goods as well as produce were sold near the cathedral. Smiths made guns, horseshoes, hinges, and tools for the village. George Boone II completed an apprenticeship as a blacksmith and married Sarah Uppey around 1660 before settling down to his trade at Stoke Canon. George II was a member of the Church of England, prosperous, entitled to a pew at the parish church. He was the father of George III, born in 1666, who became a Quaker.




  The man who founded the Society of Friends, George Fox, was born in Nottinghamshire in 1624 to a Puritan family and was apprenticed to a shoemaker. At the age of eighteen he experienced a conversion, a call, and began to wander from town to town, valley to valley, witnessing and exhorting, encouraging drunkards and sinners to repent and reform. He supported himself by making shoes. In Nottingham Fox was jailed for intruding on a church service, shouting, “Truth is not in this meeting.” He was arrested in Derbyshire for preaching in the street. His message of humility and simplicity began to attract followers, and enemies, and in places he and his listeners were stoned. His flocks were primarily artisans and farmers. His followers were especially well received in the West Country, in Devon and Cornwall. But in much of England Quakers were accused of vagrancy and jailed. Fox himself was imprisoned for refusing to take off his hat in court. In prison he drew a large following among the inmates and local people.




  Quaker communities became tightly knit. Before a Quaker could move away he had to get a “certificate of cleanness” from his meeting, declaring his faith and good character. Quakers were expected to visit the sick and bereaved, talk with the troubled, and discuss problems and plans in the family and community. To marry, they had to obtain approval of the committee of Friends and were forbidden “to keep company” or marry outside the community of Quakers. They had to avoid all gambling, music, frivolity. But because Quakers were known to be trustworthy in their dealings, they gained the respect of society and their businesses prospered.




  George Boone II chose the weaver’s trade for his son George III, who was born in the sixth year of the Restoration, 1666. George III established his weaving business in the village of Bradninch, where he had probably served his apprenticeship. In 1687 young George married Mary Maugridge, from an old Bradninch family. Mary, the daughter of John Maugridge, was baptized in Bradninch in 1668. She gave birth to her third child, Squire Boone, in 1696. The other children were George IV, baptized in 1690; Sarah, 1692; Mary, 1694 (d. 1696); Mary, 1699; John, 1702; Joseph, 1704; Benjamin, 1706; James, 1709; and Samuel, 1711. It would seem the Boones always had large families. George III and Mary Maugridge Boone joined the Friends Meeting in nearby Cullompton sometime after 1702.




  After the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713, which ended the War of the Spanish Succession, the woolen trade declined. There was widespread unemployment in Devon. Norwich and Yorkshire had begun to produce a less expensive kind of wool cloth. This decline in their business almost certainly influenced the Boones to think of immigrating to the New World. George IV, Sarah, and Squire Boone traveled to Pennsylvania as early as 1713, and George IV and Squire soon joined the Friends Meeting there.




  It would seem the younger Boones were sent to Pennsylvania to scout out opportunities for George III, and the rest of his family soon followed. But before he left Devonshire for America, George Boone III wrote out a confession to the local Society of Friends. The handwritten copy still exists in the Devon Hall of Records in Exeter. In the letter he admits a number of failings:




  I am constrained to make mention of this my transgression not without grief but with trouble and sorrow of heart for this my wickedness—which was keeping of wild company and drinking by which I sometimes became guilty of drunkenness to the dishonour of truth.




  And then he goes on to confess another shortcoming:




  I fell into another gross evil which I also confess to my great shame and sorrow that I did so little regard the Lord and the dear mercies of the Lord, but went on in another gross sin by which the honour due unto marriage was lost, for the marriage bed was defiled.




  Bradninch, 29th of the 12th month, 1716




  Many Quakers had already gone to the New World in the 1600s. William Penn, the son of an admiral highly respected by King Charles II, had been inspired by the “inner light” as a youth and was expelled from Oxford University for refusing to attend Anglican services. He became associated with George Fox and preached on the Continent. He served as trustee for Quakers immigrating to the New World. By 1678 there were hundreds of Quakers from Yorkshire living in New Jersey. Some had already crossed the Delaware into what would become Pennsylvania, where Swedish immigrants had earlier built settlements. The headquarters of the Quakers in America was established at Burlington, New Jersey, in 1677. George Fox visited the community there to encourage the members.




  On March 4, 1681, Charles II, to settle a debt claim to William Penn’s late father, granted Penn a charter to twenty-eight million acres, all lands west of the Delaware River between forty and forty-five degrees and extending five degrees west. The king named the region Pennsylvania in honor of the late admiral. William Penn himself came to the colony in 1682. Penn’s proprietary land agent granted tracts of land to immigrants on generous terms. After a parcel was surveyed, the purchaser paid an annual quitrent of a penny an acre. Land could be bought outright, fee simple, at the price of one hundred pounds for five thousand acres. Settlers started to pour into the colony. Between 1682 and 1684, fifty ships arrived in Philadelphia, bringing settlers from London, Bristol, Ireland, Holland, and Germany. A number of Welsh began to arrive.




  The Welsh immigrants tended to settle near each other in what was called the Welsh Tract, forty thousand acres with towns named Merion, Radnor, Haverford. The only physicians in the colony at this time were members of the Welsh community.




  Edward Morgan of Bala, a Welsh Quaker who had arrived in 1691, settled with his family in the Moyamensing District of Philadelphia County. Nine years later they moved to Towamencin Township near Gwynedd. Here Squire Boone, who would become the father of Daniel Boone, met Edward’s daughter Sarah. A Friend’s meetinghouse had been established at Gwynedd in 1701. George III and Mary Boone had moved there soon after they arrived in America.




  The Morgans of Merionethshire in North Wales had become Quakers soon after George Fox visited there in 1657. Morgan is one of the most common names in Wales, along with Jones. Edward Morgan belonged to the tenth generation descended from Llewelyn Ap Morgan. That part of Wales is renowned for its mountain crags and mists. In the seventeenth century its main businesses were sheep grazing; knitting stockings, gloves, sweaters; and making wigs. Writing in the 1180s the historian and priest Giraldus Cambrensis described Merionethshire as “the roughest and rudest of all the Welsh districts. The mountains are very high, with narrow ridges and a great number of very sharp peaks, all jumbled together in confusion. If the shepherds who shout together and exchange comments from these lofty summits should ever decide to meet, it would take them almost the whole day to climb up and down again.”




  Quakerism had taken root in that part of Wales following the preaching of Morgan Lloyd and John Ap John. Since the times of the Druids, the Welsh had been a people who loved music and praise. One of their own in the fifth century, named Morgan, had called himself Pelagius, translating Morgan (“of the sea”) into Latin, when he rose to high office in Rome and preached a doctrine denying original sin. He gained many followers, until he was denounced as a heretic by Augustine of Hippo. The Welsh had always loved a religion of praise, and independence, preferring to seek peace, liberty, and happiness on their own terms and in their own rugged world.




  When George Fox visited Wales, he found a small, though receptive, audience for his “quietism” and pursuit of the “inner light.” Fox’s best reception was in the mountains of Merionethshire, and there he invited his listeners to come to Pennsylvania to take part in the “holy experiment” with freedom and brotherhood on the banks of the Delaware and Schuylkill. Edward Morgan and his family had answered that call.




  WHEN George III and Mary Boone arrived in Pennsylvania in 1717 with their six younger children, Mary, John, Joseph, Benjamin, James, and Samuel, they first lived with their son George IV and his wife, Deborah Howell Boone, in Abingdon. Before winter they moved to the Quaker community of North Wales. George IV had presented the certificate “of his orderly and good conversation” from Cullompton, Devonshire, to the Friends’ Abington meeting on “8 mo. 26, 1713.”




  It was at Gwynedd, near Oley, that Squire Boone and Sarah Morgan were given permission to marry on the thirtieth day of the Sixth Month in 1720. Quakers referred to the months by numbers to avoid using the pagan names such as January and February. Earlier that same year George III had been required to confess to the Gwynedd Monthly Meeting his “forwardship in giving his consent” to the marriage of his daughter Mary to someone “Contrary to the Establish’d order amongst us.” This was not the last time a Boone would be asked to confess and apologize to the Friends for the behavior of his children.




  Squire Boone has been described as a rather small man, with fair skin, red hair, and gray eyes. Sarah Morgan was taller than most women, with black eyes and black hair, strong and active. The marriage of Squire and Sarah is described in the Gwynedd Friends Meeting Book:




  At a solemn assembly of the said people [Quakers] . . . the said Squire Boone took the said Sarah Morgan by the hand (and) did in a solemn manner declare that he took her to be his wife, promising to be unto her a faithful and loving husband, until death should separate them, and then and there in the said assembly Sarah Morgan did likewise declare.




  In April 1718 George III moved his family to Oley, in Berks County, where his older daughter, Sarah, and her husband, Jacob Stover, had been living for three years. The new meetinghouse in Oley was named Exeter, after the town back in Devonshire. The stone building still stands and is used as a meetinghouse. George III bought four hundred acres of fine meadowland and forest. By 1728 George III had built a mill at Exeter, and we have the impression of years of prosperity. But after a period of peaceful relations with Indians, the area was suddenly threatened by Shawnees. George Boone wrote to the governor requesting help: “Our condition at present looks with a bad vizard, for undoubtedly the Indians will fall down upon us very suddenly, and our inhabitants are generally fled, there remains about 20 men with me to guard my mill.”




  Many settlers were so frightened they left their homesteads. Within days eleven Indians, painted for war and carrying weapons, arrived near Van Bibber’s Township, going door to door demanding provisions and drink. A posse of twenty local men gathered to pursue the warriors. The leader of the Indian band refused to negotiate and fired on the settlers, wounding two before fading into the forest. The settlers took refuge in a mill, possibly George Boone’s. The Shawnees were on their way to join a party of Delawares in a campaign against the “Flatfeet,” as the Catawbas were sometimes called. In all they wounded five settlers in what luckily turned out to be the only ever hostile encounter between whites and Native Americans in the Philadelphia area.




  BECAUSE OF their cooperation, craftsmanship, division of labor, and hard work, the Quakers were well adapted for frontier life. They were used to being frugal, self-reliant, resourceful. They raised their own sheep and flax, spun their own wool and linen, wove their own cloth. In the Philadelphia area the Quakers were in the majority and became the leaders of the colony.




  The Boones were leaders of their community. Squire Boone became a trustee of the Oley Monthly Meeting, and his brother George IV and his wife, Deborah, deeded land for the Quaker burial ground. George III was a justice of the peace. Several Boones served as delegates to the quarterly and annual meetings of the Friends. The strong sense of community and brotherhood among the Quakers helped sustain them through the hardships of the frontier. They provided care and aid to the sick or struggling. At the same time they were strict about the conduct of their members, requiring violators to make a written confession of errors and acknowledgment of justice. The confessions were posted on the door of the meetinghouse.




  Squire Boone was a weaver and blacksmith. He also farmed his land and ran a gristmill, and he had a substantial herd of cattle. A man of many parts, hardworking and talented, Squire was neighbor to Mennonites, Swedish Lutherans, Presbyterians, Huguenots, and Moravians as well as Quakers. Though he grew increasingly independent and liberal in his thinking, he was a man of patience and common sense. And like his father before him, he was touched with restlessness, curiosity, an urge to move on.




  Among the Boones’ neighbors in the area were the extensive Lincoln family. “Boones and Lincolns several times intermarried. Sarah Lincoln sister of John Lincoln who was the gr[eat] grandfather of President Lincoln, married William Boone son of George Boone and Deborah (Howell) Boone by Friends Ceremony 8th mo 27th 1761.” Anne Boone, daughter of Squire’s brother James, married Abraham Lincoln on July 10, 1760. Because Lincoln was not a Quaker she was condemned by the Friends Meeting. Their daughter Mary later married a James Boone. Both Boones and Lincolns are buried in the yard of the Exeter Meeting House. The Boones and Lincolns would be acquainted later also in Virginia and Kentucky.




  Squire and Sarah’s sixth child, Daniel, was born November 2, 1734 (October 22, Old Style). From the very beginning the family sensed that Daniel was different from the other children. Lively, apparently tireless, curious, when very young he helped out in the family trades of blacksmithing, milling, and farming. But family lore has it that from the very first Daniel liked to roam in the woods. Oley was mostly forest then, a green world of rolling hills and small streams, and from his childhood Daniel preferred to rove and study the ways of the wild. He seemed born to be an outdoorsman and hunter, the way John Keats was born to be a poet. One early biographer described the infant Daniel playing with his father’s powder horn and rifle where they had been laid down after a hunt.




  Daniel’s closest relationship was with his mother, tall Welsh Sarah, with her black eyes and cheerful disposition. From his birth she seemed to favor Daniel of all her children, tolerating his pranks, his tendency to slip away into the woods for hours, for whole days. The bond between mother and son was intense, affectionate, inspiring. It seems she put her fondest hopes in this independent, sometimes wayward boy driven by enthusiasms for the wild and curiosity about the world beyond the farm, beyond the river. Daniel’s uncle John Webb took a particular interest in the boy also, “keeping him and petting him for weeks together” at his house with his own four children.




  In October of 1744 Squire Boone bought twenty-five acres of land five miles north of his home in Oley. That was where he pastured his livestock, and from the age of ten Daniel accompanied Sarah there in summer to look after the cattle and sheep. From spring until fall he lived with her in a cabin in the woods. For the rest of his life Daniel would look back on those summers as an idyllic time. He was assigned to keep an eye on the herds and help with the cows, while his mother milked and made butter and cheese. Once a week they carried the milk and milk products on foot back to the homestead. For Daniel the forest was his mother world, a place of shadows and mystery, infinite diversions and pleasure; the settlement and town were the masculine world of trade and business, meetinghouse, authority and strictness. He would always be closer to the mother world than to the father world. His deepest affinity was with the forest and the streams.




  Daniel spent much of those summers exploring the nearby and not-so-nearby woods. Though he had little formal schooling, he studied the ways of animals, of deer and bear, foxes and panthers. He learned to read signs, tracks and droppings, broken twigs, bent-down grass, torn moss. As an early biographer, W. H. Bogart, phrased it, “He learned lessons of the snow and the leaves and moss, and to detect, with a quick eye, the tread of foot.” From Sarah he seemed to have inherited a Quaker calm and patience, a sense of intimacy with place and weather, with all life, including Indian life and Indian ways. He delighted in solitude. It is likely that most of the milking and work with the dairy was done by his mother, since milking and butter making were considered women’s work.




  From the beginning, the complexities and contradictions of Daniel’s character seemed evident. He loved most to spend time alone in the woods, observing and learning, tracking and trapping and killing game. Indians still lived in the neighborhood when Boone was a boy. One Indian, a close friend of George Boone, built a cabin on Boone’s land, lived to an old age, and was buried close by. The local Shawnee Indians liked him because he respected their ways and admired their knowledge of the land and forest. There was almost a Franciscan humility and reverence for life in the young Boone, yet he was a hunter, a killer of the wild animals.




  And though he was a Quaker, Daniel was a fighting Quaker. The stories of his youthful pranks and fights, told by Boone’s son Nathan to Lyman Draper in 1851, make it clear the young Daniel was no pacifist. Once two sisters, carrying a bucket of fish guts to empty during the shad run, saw Daniel sleeping under a tree. Unable to resist the temptation, they dumped the contents of the bucket on his face. Brushing the slimy entrails out of his hair and eyes, the young Daniel jumped up and bloodied the girls’ noses and sent them home howling. Within minutes the girls’ mother stormed into Sarah Boone’s kitchen and accused Daniel of attacking her daughters. But the peaceable Quakeress would not tolerate the tirade against her son. “If thee has not brought up thy daughters to better behavior,” she said, “it is high time they were taught good manners. And if Daniel has given them a lesson, I hope for my part that it will in the end do them no harm. And I have only to add that I bid thee good day.”




  The young Daniel often demonstrated a tendency to wander off without much concern for the worry his absence might cause others. However much he loved his mother, and however much he later loved his wife, Rebecca, his urge to hunt and wander and explore always came first.




  From the time he was a boy Boone had a flair for the dramatic. He seemed to know instinctively how to make himself noticed, remembered. As a young man he began to create for himself the role of Daniel Boone, and he spent much of his life perfecting that role. Despite his later protestation that he was “but a common man,” he seemed aware from early in his youth that he was not just playing himself but a type, what Emerson would later call a Representative Man. Boone would embody in his actions and attitude the aspirations and character of a whole era.




  At least once, Daniel became so distracted by his own explorations that he forgot the hours of the day, his home, the fact that he was supposed to help his mother. Before it got dark, Sarah had to round up the cattle herself and do the milking, strain the milk, and put it in the springhouse to stay cool. Calm and prayerful, she worked at churning butter from clabbered milk. But when Daniel did not come home by the next morning and still had not returned by noon, she had no choice but to walk the five miles back to town to get help.




  A search party was formed and they combed over the Oley Hills all the way to the Neversink mountain range northwest of the Monocacy Valley. They found no sign of Daniel that afternoon. But starting out early the next morning they traveled farther and spotted a column of smoke. Late in the afternoon they reached the source of the smoke and found Daniel sitting on a bearskin and roasting fresh bear meat on the fire. When asked if he was lost, he said no, he had known where he was all along, on the south shoulder of the hill nine miles from the pasture. The search party accused him of scaring his mother and forcing them all to waste time looking for him. But he calmly answered he had started tracking the bear and didn’t want to lose it. And besides, here was fresh meat for everybody.




  Whether this story is true, or just one of the legends that grew around Boone in later life, it reveals as much about the way he was perceived and remembered as it does about his character. People later recalled that even from his boyhood there was a sense that Daniel had been singled out. The story of the search party echoes the story in Luke 2:49 of the twelve-year-old Jesus lost from Mary and Joseph. The boy is finally found in the temple conversing with the elders. When he is questioned and scolded, he explains that he has been “about his Father’s business.” The sense of the story is that Boone had already found his calling and his destiny. It is clear he also knew how to make a memorable impression.




  For Boone there was something erotic about the woods, a playground, a place of sometimes dangerous pleasure. And some would later suggest that with his lifelong passion for hunting, there was a part of Boone that never quite grew up.




  Boone’s cunning and love of pranks are also recorded in many of the childhood anecdotes Lyman Copeland Draper and others collected later. One tale Boone himself liked to repeat in old age concerned his confinement to the house during an outbreak of smallpox. His mother would not let him or his sister Elizabeth outdoors to play. Sick of the imprisonment, young Daniel and Elizabeth decided to catch the smallpox themselves and get it over with so they could go out to play as usual. That night they slipped away to a neighbor’s house and crawled into bed with friends who were infected with smallpox, then returned home before daybreak.




  When a few days later the red marks began to appear on him, Sarah grew suspicious. “Now, Daniel,” she said to her son, “I want thee to tell thy mother the whole truth.” Daniel readily confessed the initiative he had taken. “Thee naughty little gorrel,” she cried, “why did thee not tell me before, so I could have had thee better prepared.” Sarah called him an Old English word for knave but was too affectionate to punish him. It was the kind of story Boone as an old man liked to recall of his beloved mother.




  Squire Boone, however, was not so indulgent with his sons. When he punished them he would swing the strap until they begged for forgiveness. Then he would quit whipping and talk with them calmly. But Daniel was more stubborn than his brothers and endured the punishment in silence. “Canst thou not beg?” the frustrated father would ask. But Daniel would never answer, leaving Squire to make up his own mind when the punishment was sufficient. Even as a boy Boone showed the stoicism and self-control he was later renowned for.




  While he roved the woods and tended his father’s cattle, Daniel cut and carved a stick which he used to kill animals—rabbits and squirrels, possums and wild turkeys. Before he owned a gun Boone was already a hunter, with the patience, sharp eye, and deadly aim of the successful hunter who learned something new every day as he went into the woods again. He was proud of his skill at cleaning and dressing a turkey. Often he cooked outdoors for himself and Sarah, hanging the bird on a stick over the flames, turning it to bake on all sides. With a piece of curved bark he caught the drippings, which he used to baste the turkey. When his mother asked how he had learned to do that, he said merely that an Indian had told him how it was done.




  When Daniel was almost thirteen he was given his first firearm, a “short rifle gun” with which he roamed the nearby Flying Hills, the Oley Hills, and the Neversink Mountains. The Flying Hills were named for the flocks of turkeys that lived there. The rifle was probably made by Squire Boone, who, besides keeping six looms busy with hired hands, farming, and running his blacksmith shop and mill, was also a gunsmith. His skill at making and repairing guns was passed down to his fourth son. It would be an essential, lifesaving skill in later years, in the wilderness beyond the mountains.




  As a blacksmith Squire Boone had taken an apprentice named Henry Miller, two or three years older than Daniel. Henry and Daniel soon got into a fistfight, and then, as often happens with those who begin by fighting, they became lifelong friends. Henry taught Daniel blacksmithing and gunsmithing, as he learned the skills himself. Together they hunted and fished and played pranks on neighbors and on other members of the Boone family. Once they overloaded a rifle that was to be lent to a neighbor named Wilcoxen. Wilcoxen, who knew little about guns, was to pick up the already loaded rifle in the morning for a deer hunt. During the night the boys took out the lead ball, added six times the usual amount of powder, and replaced the bullet.




  As soon as the neighbor took the rifle away, the boys realized what they had done. A seriously overloaded rifle might well explode, injuring Wilcoxen, perhaps even killing him. Sick with guilt and dread, they listened as he stalked off into the woods. Later they heard a report like the blast of a cannon and, running toward the sound of the blast, were relieved to see Wilcoxen stumbling out of the woods, his face bruised and bloody from a cut on his forehead. He said the recoil of the gun had thrown him to the ground.




  When he heard the story, Squire Boone answered that the load had been so light he could have rested the gun on his nose without hurting it. Daniel and Henry asked Wilcoxen if he had killed the deer, but the poor man was so surprised by the force of the blast he hadn’t noticed his target. But Wilcoxen recovered his dry wit and commented that he thought “it was a pretty dear shot.” The boys ran into the woods and found the deer and brought it to the neighbor, who likely after that learned to load his gun for himself.




  BECAUSE OF the family’s strict Quaker principles, the Boone children were not allowed to attend parties or dances. But Daniel and Henry heard of a frolic to be held in a distant town, and giving each other courage, or daring themselves, they decided to borrow Squire Boone’s horse in the night and ride away to the dance. After an evening of celebration, perhaps after sampling some of the local hard cider, they decided to jump the horse carrying both of them over one of Squire’s cows sleeping in the pasture. The cow awakened and started to rise, rear first, just as the horse began its leap. Daniel and Henry slammed to the ground shaken but unhurt, but the horse broke its neck and died. The boys returned the bridle and saddle to the barn and crept back into the house as if nothing had happened. Squire never solved the mystery of how a healthy horse could let itself out of the barn and break its neck in an open pasture.




  One of the pranks credited to Boone and Henry Miller was taking apart piece by piece the wagons of neighbors who had scolded them and placing the wagonwheels on the ridgepoles of the owners’ barns. But these may have been Halloween tricks more than acts of revenge.




  Daniel began to acquire a reputation for prowess, cunning, and willpower. From an early age he could walk miles without getting tired and swim any river or pond. He could outrun other boys and he always seemed to win fights and wrestling matches. With bow and arrow he always seemed to win shooting matches, and with a rifle he was without peer. If he and his friends played “Hunt the Indian,” he always found the Indian. If it was his turn to be the Indian, he disappeared and could not be found. Once he and Henry and other boys were carrying their rifles in the woods and surprised a panther sunning on the riverbank. It screamed and started to charge. The other boys ran, but Daniel stood his ground, leveling his sights at the bounding cat. Just as the creature was about to leap at him, he fired and the cat fell dead at his feet.




  THERE HAS been much debate about Boone’s education. Late in life he told his children he had never had one day of schooling. A nephew later told a story of young Daniel attending a school taught by an Irishman who was both fond of the bottle and handy with the cane. The teacher frequently repaired to the woods for a sip from his hidden jug. One day while squirrel hunting Daniel found the bottle and laced the liquor with an herbal emetic. Later, as he was wracked by violent heaves and spasms, the teacher noticed Daniel giggling and realized he was the culprit. Attempting to whip the boy, the sick Irishman got knocked to the floor by the independent youth. Sarah Boone rebuked her son for violence but didn’t force him to return to school.




  Whatever the truth about his schooling, the fact is that Daniel Boone could read and write. As a militia officer, storekeeper, land agent, surveyor, magistrate, and legislator he wrote thousands of letters and reports, many of them still in existence. And he enjoyed reading, especially history books, the Bible, and later Gulliver’s Travels. There is reason to believe he knew Robinson Crusoe quite well. But his spelling was erratic, even imaginative. The orthography of his many notes and letters, bills and survey accounts, is part of the legend. Lyman Draper reports that Boone was actually taught to read and write by his brother Samuel’s wife, Sarah Day. Draper offered his own description of Boone’s writing: “He could at first do little more than write his own name in an uncouth and mechanical way. To these humble beginnings, he added something as he grew up, by his own practical application . . . His compositions bear the marks of a strong common sense, yet, as might be expected, exhibiting defects in orthography, grammar and style, by no means infrequent.”




  Draper applies strict, Victorian standards to Boone’s handwriting and spelling. Another story relating to Boone’s education, or rather lack thereof, concerns his bachelor uncle John who kept a subscription school nearby and was liberal in applying the rod. Daniel refused to attend, and Sarah took his side, critical of excessive caning. John complained to his brother Squire.




  “It’s all right, John,” Daniel’s father answered. “Let the girls do the spelling and Dan will do the shooting, and between you and me that is what we most need.” Whether the story is true or not, it implies a very common course of events, as educated immigrants to America found little opportunity or time for education for their children. The second generation of the immigrants often had less education than the first. “They took the powder horn and left the ink horn at home,” the biographer W. H. Bogart later wrote. From infancy Daniel had been exposed to daily readings from the Bible, and it is likely its words made a lasting impression on him “in the mighty solitudes of his after years.”




  There were few schools in the area of Oley at the time. But the fact is all the other Boone sons received a respectable education. As far as we know only Daniel avoided school and the rules of grammar and spelling. It would seem his parents early on recognized his skills as a hunter and woodsman who provided the family with venison and turkey, squirrels and rabbits, as well as hides and furs. It was practical to let him do what he did better than anyone else.




  Later in his life, in a moment of great danger, Boone would write sentences such as, “Your company is desired greatly, for the people are very uneasy, but are willing to stay and venture their lives with you, and now is the time to flusterate their [the Indians’] intentions, and keep the country whilst we are in it.” This letter, written to Richard Henderson on April 1, 1775, as Boone and his men were hacking out Boone’s Trace after being attacked by Indians, shows he had some command of language, as well as a flair for making up words and spelling. We don’t know, of course, how much help he had with the letter from his son-in-law Will Hays.




  However poor or creative Boone’s spelling was, he did know how to spell his name, always with an e at the end, proving that the famed inscriptions such as “D. Boon Cilled a bar on tree in the year 1760” were almost certainly made by someone else.




  Young Daniel’s greatest teachers were the woods themselves and the Indians he watched and questioned and imitated. We talk often of the impact of the white culture on the Native Americans, but the influence of the Indian culture on the white was just as significant. As John Mack Faragher has pointed out, in Europe hunting was the preserve of the nobility. Most of those who came to America learned to hunt from Indian ways. Not only did the settlers and hunters learn much about hunting and trapping and survival from the Indians, they also learned the use of herbs and roots and berries, medicines, the lay of the land and courses of rivers to the west.




  The Boone family, like William Penn himself, had always been known to be friendly to the Indians. George III had organized a rescue of two Indian girls who had been kidnapped. Indians passing through the neighborhood were often invited to eat and drink and stay the night at the Boone home. In 1736 a chief called Sassoonan, “King of the Schuylkill Delawares,” stayed at the Boone homestead with a party of twenty-five.




  Relations between Indians and whites in Pennsylvania were more peaceful than in the other colonies. In the woods along the Schuylkill above Philadelphia, white hunters who lived like Indians were seen frequently along the trails and beside the streams. Indians of many different tribes mingled in the hills and villages north of Oley, Tuscaroras and Tutelas, Conoys and Nanticokes, Shawnees and Susquehannocks and Delawares. One nearby Indian village, called Manangy’s Town, was later renamed Reading.




  Besides the minor outbreak of fighting in 1728, there were no Indian raids on the southeastern Pennsylvania frontier in the eighteenth century. It was a time when the Indians were learning from the Europeans to use firearms, wear woven cloth, build log cabins, use metal tools, and drink whiskey. And from the Natives the white hunters learned the ways of the American woods, the best techniques for hunting deer and bear and trapping beavers, mink, and otter. From the Indians the hunters learned to prepare bear bacon and jerk from venison. They learned to cure deer hides and buffalo hides and bearskins. And they learned the beauty and value of furs, the glistening pelts of beavers that populated almost every stream in the forest. The pelts of mink and otter, fox and muskrat, raccoon and pine marten, were also useful and beautiful, warm and silky to the touch. Most luxuriant of all was the otter, its fur deep and dark and sparkling, soft as a whisper to the fingertips, shining with mystery. In the Old World fur was reserved for royalty. In the North American forests fur was there for anyone with the skill to take it.




  The hide of the deer was used mostly for clothing. Scraped and tanned, softened and smoothed, buckskin was common as khaki is now. Deer hides were such a familiar item of frontier trade that the Spanish dollar, worth about one hide, came to be called a buck. Buckskin served many purposes on the frontier, used for clothes, strings, and pouches. Prepared right, it was soft and pliable. However, when wet, buckskin tended to become very heavy, and it shrank as it dried out.




  The American long rifle, developed by German gunsmiths in Pennsylvania, was the weapon of choice for hunters of both races. It was light and sturdy and could be accurate at up to two hundred yards in the hands of a skilled marksman. But both white and Indian hunters used other firearms as well—British muskets, Dutch shotguns, pistols. A man’s rifle was his most important companion in the forest. The saying was he should select a rifle as carefully as a wife.




  As they interacted more and more with the whites, Indians changed their customs and dress. With the traditional buckskin leggings and breech clout, the Indians often wore the long linen hunting shirts donned by the white woodsmen. The log cabin and stockade were almost impossible to build without metal tools. For centuries the Indians had lived in shelters made of poles and bark, hides and brush. But once the Indians had metal axes and saws, adzes and augers, they too made log dwellings, similar to those the whites built. It is said that Indians preferred to notch their logs on the underside, while whites notched theirs on the top.




  It has long been observed that white and Indian communities on the frontier mirrored each other in many ways. From the Indians the whites learned herbal medicines, hunting techniques, crops fitted to the local climate and soil, preparation of hides and furs, geography of the regions farther west. From the whites the Indians acquired firearms, metal tools, whiskey, cloth, small grains, and a number of diseases that killed more Natives than all the wars combined.




  It was in this world of mingling Indian and European cultures that Daniel Boone’s character and aspirations were formed. He became an expert marksman, tracker, and trapper. He never forgot a trail or place he’d seen. But at the same time he was part of a large close family, loyal and affectionate, good natured and often funny. He loved to enjoy himself and be with friends before vanishing into the woods again, emerging days later with bear meat, a deer, pelts to trade. These two sides to his character seemed to be there from the first. From childhood he seemed to inhabit a “middle ground” between white and Indian cultures. And he served at times as a kind of double agent, his loyalties complex and divided between his several worlds and kinships.




  

    PEOPLE OF THE FOREST




    ALONG TEN THOUSAND SLOPES sap rose in maples, and arbutus bloomed in late February and shad bushes in March and April. On stream banks, buffalo grazed, along with elk and deer. Bears slept through the winter in their dens, bowels sealed with a fecal plug, then crawled out in late winter, awakened by thunder, to eat laurel leaves, which opened them again, and foxes barked in the hills. Beavers, muskrats, mink, and otters busied themselves along creeks, their fur luxuriant.




    Blending into this wilderness, Indians lived in villages of bark and logs, skins on poles, brush and thatch; they caught fish in wicker traps, killed game with bows and arrows, fought wars with spears and stone hatchets, prayed to the mountains and the spirits of bears and stars. Their lives were complex and evolving.




    By the early 1700s Indians in eastern North America had been dealing with English-speaking settlers for about a century. Welcoming the invaders at first, the Indians shared their knowledge. What the Europeans saw as virgin land was often “widowed land” Indians had abandoned. Because Indians tended to move where hunting was most rewarding, they did not seem to “own” land or “improve” land in ways the whites recognized. Nor did they raise livestock. Colonists were surprised that Indians showed so little interest in accumulating wealth.




    The two cultures generally misunderstood each other. Europeans often assumed Indians had no religion because they saw no recognizable ritual or symbols of worship. The Indians had no word for “animal” or “beast” as distinct from human. To them, all living things had spirits or souls. Not only did the animals have spirits, but the guardian spirits of people usually appeared as animals. Owning land in the white way made no more sense than “owning” a tract of air or sunlight. Indians were rich by “desiring little,” William Cronon writes.
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    Timucua Indian Hunters Observed in Florida Wearing Deer Costumes. Theodor de Bry. Engraving 1590. Based on a painting by Jacques Le Moyne. Reprint, Paris, 1927. The classic images by the Flemish engraver de Bry (1528–98) of Indians in Virginia, Florida, and South America were made from rough sketches by Jacques Le Moyne (1533–83). (Courtesy Cornell University Library.)




    Probably the greatest initial difference between Indian and white land use was the keeping of livestock. The English plowed their fields, and plowing changed the ecology. In a few short years the landscape looked drastically different. The settlers’ ranging livestock destroyed crops and drove away the game. White settlers meant to stay in one place, exhausted the land by growing mostly corn. The English introduced many pests, including rats and dandelions, and diseases they brought helped thin out the Native populations. In 1709 an English colonist reckoned that in the Carolinas six out of seven Indians had died of disease in the previous fifty years.
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    Cornstalk, Chief of the Shawnees in the Scioto Valley of Ohio. Artist unknown. Engraving. American Legion magazine, February 1975. Cornstalk was the outstanding political leader and diplomat of the Ohio Shawnees during the period of Lord Dunmore’s War in 1774. (Courtesy American Legion magazine.)




    The English passion for accumulating wealth struck the Indians as insanity. For this and other reasons Indian holy men began to describe whites as created for a different purpose. Both Indians and whites suspected each other of witchcraft. Indians were thought to worship the devil, and Indians in turn were convinced the English were in league with evil spirits. All too soon, the Indians concluded the invaders were stupid, and laughed.




    But whites who got to know Indians found them more honest and tolerant than most members of their own race. It was said by some that Indians were more “Christian” than the English, showing greater charity toward the land and its inhabitants.




    As the Indians were pushed back from their traditional lands, prophets rose among them urging the nations to resist the white encroachments, and teaching a militant pan-Indianism. Indian nations were divided between those who sought accommodation with the whites and those who preached Nativism and urged a return to ancient beliefs and rituals. One difficulty of organizing Indian resistance was that chiefs were not rulers in the European sense. Decisions were made by consensus, and often there was a war chief, a peace chief, and a woman who served as leader of the women.




    And yet the story of the meeting of whites and Indians was not always one of misunderstanding and tragedy. In the French-claimed lands of the Middle Ground, as the Ohio and Illinois country was called, whites and Indians lived in close proximity through much of the eighteenth century, learning from each other, trading, intermarrying. But the Americans who moved into the Middle Ground had other ambitions, other visions.


  




  [image: image]




  
CHAPTER TWO


  


  The Hills beyond the Yadkin





  1751–1755




  There has been much speculation about why Squire and Sarah Boone and their family left the peaceful countryside of Oley, Pennsylvania, for the wilder Shenandoah Valley of Virginia, and then the even wilder Yadkin Valley of North Carolina. Commentators have described the Boones as a restless family, as “fiddle-footed,” with the “itching foot.” Certainly it was an age of restlessness, when those who had made the great migration from their ancient roots in Britain or the Continent felt little hesitation in picking up again and moving on. The horizon called and curiosity prodded them to go, and then go again.




  Most biographers and students of Daniel Boone have pointed out that Squire grew less and less in harmony with the community of Friends at the Exeter Meeting. As early as 1742, when Daniel was only eight, and Sarah, the oldest of his siblings, married a neighbor named John Wilcoxson, who was not a Quaker, both parents were rebuked and confessed their fault. Ironically, the 1730s and 1740s were a time of religious revival in the American colonies, when the movement called the Great Awakening was sweeping over the land. Preachers such as Jonathan Edwards and George Whitefield conducted services in New England where worshipers swooned, had fits, or cringed in terror of hellfire. But it was also a time when parents and churches seemed to be losing control over the young. More and more young women had children out of wedlock. There is a tradition in American humor and folklore that religious revivals also inspire a surge in illegitimate births, as religious fervor seems to stir sexual fever. Such revivals, it was said, “led to more souls being made than saved.” After the great revival at Cane Ridge in Kentucky in 1801, it was reported, “Becca Bell ‘is with child to one Brown’; Kate Cummins also ‘got careless’ and ‘had a bastard’; Patty McGuire ‘has been whoring.’” The Reverend Charles Woodmason, who traveled into the Carolina backcountry at this time, noted that “94 percent of the brides whom he married in the past year were pregnant on their wedding day.”




  In 1747, the year Daniel was given his first rifle, his older brother Israel also married outside the Quaker community. Again a committee was appointed “to speak with Squire Boone about his son’s disorderly marriage.” But this time Squire refused to submit to public humiliation and confess his fault. The investigating committee reported “that he could not see that he had transgressed, and therefore was not willing to condemn it.” It is possible that the spirit of independence in the new land had made him more resistant to the strictures of the Friends. Perhaps he had begun to drift away from the faith itself.




  More likely Squire had learned, as many parents do, then and now, how hard it is to direct the affections of their offspring. And because he also liked the mates chosen by his children, Squire may have felt the unfairness of the Friends’ rebuke. His father, George III, had endured the humiliation of public confession. The minutes of the meeting for 1747 show that Squire not only refused to confess his fault but flung arguments back at the Friends, “giving Room to a reflecting Spirit even against his friends.” He later sent a heated letter to the committee and in March of 1748 he was expelled from the Exeter Meeting until he would confess his faults and show “his coming to a Godly Sorrow in himself.” While Sarah and the children continued to attend the meeting, Squire after that kept the Sabbath by staying at home.




  There is reason to believe, based on symbols carved on his tombstone in North Carolina, that Squire, like his son Daniel later, had been initiated into the society of Freemasons. Leaders such as Benjamin Franklin were known to be enthusiastic Masons. Formed in England early in the eighteenth century, the secret society was devoted to fellowship, ceremony, charity, and service to the community. Joining the Freemasons could have made Squire feel even more independent of the Quaker Meeting.




  Freemasonry offered a fresh way of looking at society and mankind—liberal, rational, committed to a useful, moral life, not based on revelation, class, monarchy. Jews and even African Americans and Native Americans might be initiated into lodges. It seems likely the Boones’ affiliation with Masonry strengthened their sense of belonging to the fraternity of all men, whether white or Indian, American or British, and helps explain Daniel’s conduct later in the complex, dangerous time of the American Revolution.




  It is likely that his father’s resistance and excommunication from the Quaker Meeting made a deep impression on Daniel. Years later he supposedly told his young friend Peter Houston that he had never known anything good to come from religious disputes. All his life Boone avoided religious organizations and sectarian arguments. Though he showed a reverent spirit, treated others with respect and kindness, demonstrated an inner calm, and developed the habit of daily Bible reading, he never belonged to any church nor ever confessed to any established creed.




  Like many gifted children, Daniel seems to have inherited the best of both his parents. From his father he appears to have received a boldness and independence, great physical strength and courage, tenacity and leadership, and skill with working metal. Daniel was driven by the same restlessness and curiosity that Squire demonstrated. Both father and son had a way with tools and an ability to lead others. From his mother Daniel may have taken his noted calm and peacefulness, his resistance to panic and anger, his affection for family, forest and countryside, his goodwill and optimism, a trust in others that was sometimes misplaced, and a love of music.




  BESIDES HIS disaffection with the Exeter Friends, Squire would have had other reasons to think of leaving Pennsylvania. His sister Sarah Stover and her husband, Jacob, had moved to the south fork of the Shenandoah River in Virginia and sent back letters praising the land and climate of that region. Land there could be gotten very cheaply, and farther south, in the hills of North Carolina, acres could be had for even less. It was the dream of free or cheap land that drove most of the great migrations in eighteenth- and nineteenth-century North America. Religious freedom and political freedom were also important, as was escape from debt and indenture. Servants who had finished their terms of indenture on the eastern seaboard usually headed west and south to the cheaper land of the frontier. Those who had served in prison for debt and other causes sought a new start in the recent settlements and land just vacated by Indians. Already a resentment was beginning to build between the great landowning class of the tidewater and lowlands and the poor who sought their own acres in the hill country. Acquiring new land was a thrilling prospect to those whose ancestors had lived under feudal rule for a thousand years, under an order of aristocracy and gentry, with no hope for advancement.




  Most of the sunny uplands and fertile meadows of the South were to be had for just getting there with oxen and horses, a few tools and livestock, and a small down payment. All a man needed was a wife, a gun, and two hands to work. Perhaps a dynasty, a great estate, an empire, waited to be wrought into being. Perhaps even fame could be won in a developing country where the failures of the past could be forgotten and the potential, the future, was opening its doors. And underneath that urge to move west was the ancient myth, common to most European cultures, of an earthly paradise, an Eden, a place of the blessed, somewhere over the ocean and over the mountains, where a golden future whispered. The call of the West was in the blood and bred in the bone of those who began settling the foothills of the Alleghenies and dreamed of crossing the Alleghenies to find a promised land, a new Canaan in the interior.




  Around 1750 Squire Boone moved his whole family away from Oley to the south and west, along the path of the great migrations of that time. Besides Daniel there were seven other unmarried children, ranging from Elizabeth, eighteen, to Hannah, who was only four. With them were Sarah and her husband, John Wilcoxson, and Israel and Samuel and their wives. Henry Miller, the apprentice and Daniel’s best friend, joined the party, as did one of Squire’s nephews.




  With the belongings they chose to take—which would have included tools for a blacksmith and gunsmith, weaver and farmer—packed in heavy covered wagons pulled by oxen, they would have gone west on the Allegheny Trail to Harris’s Ferry across the Susquehanna, then turned south, following the line of the Appalachian Mountains by what was called either the Virginia Road or the Great Wagon Road. (Interstate 81 now roughly follows this same route.) The road was already so well traveled that some farmers along the way had set up “stations” to sell grain for livestock, with pens for horses and cattle, hogs and sheep, and rough accommodations and supplies for the travelers. Farmers at river crossings made extra money by poling travelers across on ferries. Already stories of bandits and robbers, con men and bushwhackers, were common. It was much safer to travel in a large group. According to a report made to the Board of Trade in London in 1751, it was 435 miles from Philadelphia to the Yadkin Valley.




  After crossing the Potomac at Williamsport, Maryland, the route followed the Shenandoah River into the Great Valley of Virginia. There is some disagreement about where the family stopped first in Virginia. Descendants later told Lyman Draper that the entourage settled at Linnville Creek just north of Harrisonburg for at least one and perhaps two years. “William L. Boone told me they tarried two years on Linville Creek in Virginia, and then in 1752 (perhaps summer or early fall) they moved to the Yadkin River valley,” Nathan Boone told Draper. It is thought the family arrived in Virginia in time to make a crop in the summer of 1750 and again in 1751 before they continued on to North Carolina. Linnville Creek, in Rockingham County, was near the later home of Squire’s old friend John Lincoln. In 1779 Daniel would lead John’s son, Abraham, grandfather of the president, over the Cumberland Gap into Kentucky.




  More important for sixteen-year-old Daniel, the stop in Virginia gave him the opportunity for his first long hunt, inspired by Indian patterns and habits, an extended foray into the wilderness in quest of fur and game and adventure. At some point after the corn was laid by, Daniel and his friend Henry Miller set out on an expedition that took them hundreds of miles into the wilderness. They first explored the mountains near the Shenandoah all the way to Great Lick, later Roanoke, then dropped south through Roanoke Gap and the chain of the Blue Ridge into the Piedmont backcountry of North Carolina, where the game and furs were still more plentiful.




  On this trip Daniel first saw the Yadkin Valley, with its wide rich bottomlands and forests of sycamores, poplars, oak, and hickory. Between its wooded banks, hung with wild grape and peavines, the river curved out of the hills, puckered and scarred by rocks and sunken logs. The pools were filled with catfish, bass, and bream in the lower, slower stretches, and flashed with trout in the upper tributaries. Mink and muskrat, otter and marten, had worn slides in the banks.




  William Byrd had explored the region twenty some years before and described it in A History of the Dividing Line in 1728. “The Soil is exceedingly rich on both sides of the Yadkin, abounding in rank Grass and prodigiously large Trees; and for plenty of Fish, Fowl and Venison, is inferior to No Part of the Northern Continent. There the Traders commonly lie Still for some days to recruit their Horses’ Flesh as well as to recover their own Spirits.” Twenty years before Byrd, John Lawson, the surveyor-general of North Carolina, had visited the Yadkin Valley, called then the Sapona or Sakona, and described the beauties of the region, mentioning the soil was as rich as any informed person had seen in the Western world.




  Some historians think the name Yadkin comes from the family name of Atkins. But others suggest it has an Indian source. The Catawbas apparently called the river Sakona or Sapona, the name of a related Indian nation, but which may also have meant elk. Canebrakes covered long stretches in the flats along the Yadkin, stalks crowded together twelve or fifteen feet high. The American bamboo, Arundinaria gigantea, filled much of the Piedmont and Trans-Appalachian valleys. Deer and elk, bears and panthers, wolves and wildcats, hid in the tall shimmering reeds. The buffalo were mostly gone, though a few could be spotted from time to time. Their trails could still be seen winding into the hills along the streams into the Cherokee country, the high hunting ranges that seemed to float in blue mystery on the horizon.




  Evidence of hunting parties of Catawbas could be seen in the valleys, but no villages were in sight. Daniel and Henry shot all the game they wanted and collected as many hides and furs as they could carry. Pound for pound, beaver skins and mink and otter were worth the most. A packhorse could carry at least two hundred pounds. It was on this first long hunt into the southern wilderness that Daniel saw where his destiny lay. He was at the age when a young man begins to know the shape and direction of his inclination and future, begins to see who he is. If he had doubts before about his calling, the hills and streams of the colony of Carolina (named in 1629 for King Charles I) probably reassured him.




  When Daniel and Henry returned to Virginia (named in the sixteenth century for Elizabeth, the “Virgin Queen”) in late fall, they didn’t stay for long with the family at Linnville Creek but continued back, all the way they had come the previous spring, to Philadelphia, to sell their furs and deer hides. Years later a grandson of Henry Miller said that his grandfather and Boone, after a year of hunting and trapping, carried their furs to Philadelphia and sold them for thirteen hundred dollars and then went on “a general jamboree or frolick” until the profits of their hunt were spent. Afterward Miller was disgusted with himself and vowed to never again waste the earnings of his effort. He told his descendants that “Boone was very profligate,” happy to blow whatever he made. It appears that from the beginning Boone had little interest in accumulating wealth. Young Henry Miller settled down in Augusta County, Virginia, becoming a prosperous blacksmith. He and Daniel remained friends, however, and when Boone served in the Virginia legislature many years later he took his wife and young son Nathan with him on a visit to Miller’s considerable estate. The two kept in touch from time to time for the rest of their lives.




  While the family stayed in Virginia and Daniel hauled his furs to Philadelphia, Squire Boone traveled on to North Carolina himself and put in a claim for a square mile of land, 640 acres, on Grants Creek, near the Yadkin. The cost was only three shillings, but the claimant had to pay a quitrent to the Earl of Granville, who owned much of the western section of the colony. Records show that Squire served as a chain man for a survey in Anson County on October 4, 1750. Through the quitrent system, charging an annual fee to settlers who had bought parcels of land, the proprietors and administrators of the colonies were able to continue something of the European feudal system in the New World. Settlers throughout the colonies would chafe under the burden of quitrents, and the system of perpetual payments would become an issue in the American Revolution, a quarter of a century in the future.




  The Boones arrived on the Yadkin in the fall of 1751. The Yadkin and its feeder creeks moved fast enough to turn gristmills and saw mills. The bottomlands and meadows offered unsurpassed soil for farming, and the higher ground was ideal for grazing. Rumor has suggested that the family lived in a cave by the river, still known as one of many “Boone’s Caves,” that first winter. Whether they lived temporarily in a cave or not, it is certain that they soon built a cabin on their land. By 1753 it seems Squire Boone had bought more adjoining land. His holdings eventually became substantial enough for him to give generous sections to some of his married children. The extended family of Boones formed a whole settlement by themselves, and the value of their property rose as other families streamed into the beautiful valley and surveyed and cleared acreage.




  It is hard for modern readers to visualize the amount of labor necessary to settle a farm on the frontier in the eighteenth century. Once the first rough shelter was made on the claimed land, the work had hardly begun. Pens and huts for livestock had to be built of poles or pickets, split rails, and brush, and then the necessary kitchen garden cleared and fenced to keep out the deer, livestock, raccoons, and ranging hogs. Just to clear a garden patch required days of chopping and sawing, digging out stumps and grubbing up roots. Luckily the North Carolina Yadkin soil was not as rocky as the Pennsylvania fields.




  The soil along the river and tributary creeks of the Yadkin Valley was a rainbow of colors and textures. Near the streams, the ground, once cleared of roots and exposed to the sun, was a black alluvial powder, a mixture of silt and sand and rotted vegetation perfect for growing watermelons and corn, crops favored by loose, damp soil. In a rainy season streams sometimes overflowed and left standing pools in the hot sun that scalded the roots of species such as beans.




  Farther from the river, on gently rising land that rarely flooded, the topsoil was rich brown, the color of dark roast coffee. Stiffer than the loam along the river, the dirt was still loose when plowed, with glittering bits of quartz and mica among its crumbs and sugary lumps. Among the brown cortex of soil were patches of silver clay drawn up by the plow, and yellow splotches of oxide-rich subsoil exposed by cultivation or erosion, as well as beds and bands of red clay.




  And farther back on hillsides the ground was mostly red clay, in shades ranging from light orange to terra-cotta to blood brightness and maroon. But the tilted ground washed quicker, grooved by runoff like gathered cloth. The upland fields washed out and had to be replaced in three or four years by cleared new ground. The higher land was better for pasture than for crops. Worn-out acres good for nothing else were used as sites for churches and schools, hence the term old field schools. Higher ground out of reach of floods was chosen for the first graveyards.




  John Lawson, who had explored the Carolina foothills in 1700, wrote about the region, “The Land was very good and free from Grubs and Underwood. A man near Sapona [the Yadkin] may more easily clear ten Acres of Ground than in some places he can one . . . That day we passed through a delicious Country (none that I ever saw exceeds it.) We saw fine bladed grass six feet high, along the Banks of these pleasant Rivulets.”




  The greatest labor was clearing the fields for corn and other crops. The bottomlands along the Yadkin were covered with giant sycamores and tulip poplars, eight, ten, or sometimes fourteen feet in diameter. Wetter ground was called maple swamp, buried beneath huge maple trees and choking vines and standing pools in the rainy season. The only practical solution was to girdle the big trees, hacking rings around the trunks, cutting off the lifeblood of sap in the bark from root to branch tips. Such a deadened tree, sometimes called a belted tree, could not put out leaves to shade the soil beneath. After the first year the twigs and branches would begin to rot and fall in wind and storms. Over the following years the bigger limbs would fall and the deadened field would look like a harbor of weathered, crooked masts. Great shields of bark peeled off the trunks and dropped to the ground, making the field, when covered with rotting watermelons in exposed red clay, look like a Homeric battlefield.




  But meanwhile the soil beneath the dead trees was being tilled with hoe and bull-tongue plow pulled by oxen, loosened by heavy grubbing hoes that chopped through roots. Corn could be grown in these rough acres where smaller grains such as rye and wheat could not. Corn grew faster in the powerful soil than the weeds around it, reaching up into the hot southern sun that came through the deadened canopy. Corn, which had been introduced to Europe, was native to this soil and had been grown here by Indians for thousands of years.




  Corn was the essential, universal crop for the settlers on the Yadkin. It could be eaten as roasting ears in the milk, when first ripe, or it could be gritted on a grater into bread when a little more mature. When hardened in the fall, corn could be ground into grits or meal and made into mush, pudding, or bread. Corn could be fed to horses, cattle, hogs. The sweet fodder was stripped from the lower stalks in late summer and kept as winter feed for the horses. The tops of the stalks were cut just above the ears and piled in stacks for winter feed for cattle. Corn-shuck-filled ticks were used for mattresses. Corncobs were used for starting fires in the morning, for tobacco pipes, and for a purpose later served by toilet paper.




  Without a gristmill nearby, corn had to be crushed by a heavy wooden pestle on a hollowed stump, called a hominy block, as Indians did. But every settlement soon had at least one mill turned by a stream, where carved stones with grooves ground the grains into meal. Skilled masons cut the millstones, carving the grooves precisely with little picks. As millstones got worn, the grooves had to be sharpened again with the little picks.




  Of course the favorite use for corn for many was to dampen the grains and let them sprout. The sprouted kernels were then ground up with sprouted barley to make malt. Mixed with water and sugar, the malt was allowed to ferment into a strong beer. When the beer mash was heated, the alcohol boiled off as steam and could be caught in a still and cooled as drops of whiskey. Boiled again, the whiskey was refined into doublings, or potent moonshine. Wherever the settlers went, they had mills and deadened fields and stills. And once they had apple trees they made cider and hard cider and applejack.




  THE HARSH conditions and hard work, and relative freedom from oversight by officials and gentry, encouraged a rough, reckless culture on the frontier. Travelers such as the Reverend Charles Woodmason were astonished by the behavior of both men and women in the region. Woodmason noted that the women “expose themselves often quite naked without ceremony—rubbing themselves and their hair with bears’ oil and tying it up behind in a bunch like the Indians—being hardly one degree removed from them.” Woodmason was only one of many who noticed how white and Indian cultures came to resemble each other in the backcountry.




  By 1752 surveyors in the area were using Squire Boone’s land as a reference for their callings. And it seems that by the next year Squire had acquired even more acres of land. In the new location there were no Quaker meetinghouses for Sarah to attend with her children. Sometimes Squire organized nondenominational services, and he rose to be an important figure in the developing region, a magistrate and justice of the peace. The closest seat of government and commerce was Salisbury, about twenty miles away. Rowan County’s Minutes, Court of Pleas and Quarter Sessions for 1755 to 1767 show that Squire served on local juries. Squire helped lay out the town of Salisbury and may have named a street Freemason Street in honor of his affiliation with the order, though there was no official lodge in Rowan County at that time.




  FROM THE time he was a boy, Daniel had hated the spirit-numbing work of farming. “He never took any delight in farming or stock raising,” Daniel’s nephew Daniel Bryan said many years later, “but followed hunting untill he grew to Manhood.” Like other farm boys, he longed for rainy days when the fields were too wet to hoe or plow or even harvest. Instead of staying in the house when it rained, as others did, he took his gun and vanished into the dripping forest.




  There is a good deal of testimony that Boone never minded falling weather. In fact he seemed to enjoy rain, for damp woods were good for hunting, and he rarely stopped a hunt because of falling snow. He may have been one of those who feel the woods are more alive in the rain, the air more intimate, immediate with sounds and smells, with moisture and falling drops. Every sound, every leaf, is vivid. In wet woods you can step without making a sound. In rain he was alone with the trees and brush, the cane and mosses and the animals and birds that ventured out, feeling safe in the dampness. His hearing was more acute, and his eyesight sharper, without sun dapples and shadows, as the trees dripped and the air ticked and tapped and hummed.




  On the Yadkin Daniel began to make a substantial profit with his gun and traps. Deer hides and bearskins were worth several shillings each. Bear bacon was the favorite meat of the place and time. Furs and ginseng could be traded for cash and for more lead and powder, metal traps, a beaver felt hat. Bear Creek in the Yadkin Valley was supposedly so named because one winter Daniel killed ninety-one bears along its banks. And Daniel and an unnamed companion were said to have killed thirty deer in one day. Deer were more important for the hides than the venison, which was often tough and stringy.




  Before the white trappers introduced the metal trap, the Indians had depended on snares and dead falls, pits and arrows. Animals could be caught in nets spread under leaves that wrapped the prey up when the trigger was sprung and jerked them up to hang high in the air. Small animals could be caught in nooses. A mink or otter was more likely to be taken in a deadfall, a rock or heavy log fixed to hit its victim when a trigger was tripped. Beaver were usually speared with a barbed gig. The Indians knew how to attract beavers with castoreum, a scent taken from the gland of another beaver. Bigger animals such as foxes and wolves could be taken in pits dug in trails and covered with thin sticks and leaves and a trap door that tipped the animal into the deep hole.




  The Indians were adept with their methods, perfected over thousands of years. They used furs for clothing and decoration, ceremonies and talismanic signs, for crafting pouches, quivers, and headdresses, for trading with other tribes. When the Europeans arrived, the Indians discovered furs were their most valuable commodity. Wars were fought and whole villages massacred over the fur trade, once the traders made fur so important. Religious orders established missions in Canada and farther south, partly to save the souls of Indians and partly to serve as forts to protect the lucrative fur trade. Conflicts over the regions of supply, and control of the tribes, contributed to the so-called French and Indian War of the 1750s and 1760s.




  With traditional methods Native trappers might gather scores of skins from creek banks and high valleys in a season, but with hand-forged iron traps they could garner thousands in the same time. The action of a metal trap is a powerful spring shaped like tongs. When the tongs are pressed closed, the jaws of the trap fall open as semicircles on hinges. When the trigger is slipped in place, caught in the “dog,” the jaws stay open. On the trigger is a pan almost like a coin, and when the pan is pressed the jaws slam shut. Some traps have jaws with sharp teeth. Daniel Boone knew how to make iron traps and repair them. Such traps were crafted in all sizes, then as now, from tiny ones to catch muskrats and weasels, larger ones to catch otter and fox, still larger for beaver, and biggest of all for bear. A bear trap was so powerful it had to be set with clamps, and it could break a man’s leg. On dry land, on a trail, a trap was baited with scents or meat, and carefully hidden under leaves or duff to snap on a fox or wolf, panther or bear. Hardest of all to catch was a fox, which seemed able to smell a human touch no matter how many times a trap had been boiled and handled with boiled gloves.




  The most valuable animals lived in or near the water, and fur was at its best in late fall and winter when because of the cold weather it was thick and shiny with oil. To catch these animals and prevent them from biting off their clamped feet was delicate work. The trap had to be set in water so the caught animal would drown. But if the water was too deep, the mink, otter, muskrat, or beaver would swim over the trap. Therefore traps were set below slides or runs, or where paths entered the stream, or between rocks where the animal was known to pass. The trap was hidden in the water, but it had to be chained to a rock or root or sapling, or the animal would jerk it away and be carried downstream. Within minutes the prey must drown and its body be mostly concealed by the current. Trappers were very secretive about their methods and about their trails and sequences of sets, called traplines, stretched along streams. A thief who stumbled on a trapline could follow it and steal every pelt that had been caught, not to mention the traps themselves. In some places furs were almost the medium of exchange, more than coins, more than blankets, more than anything except whiskey and rifles, and later tobacco.




  Once animals were caught, their hides had to be peeled off and scraped carefully, so as not to cut or damage the valuable skin. The mink pelt was turned inside out like a sock, and a beaver pelt cut to stretch flat on a hoop made of grapevine or a hickory shoot, called a withe. Mink and otter hides were stretched inside out on boards or a bent limb. A trapper cached his furs in thickets and caves, usually dividing his hoard among several locations, in case one of them was found by Indians or white thieves. He also made his camp some distance from the trapline. Cured pelts could be tied in bundles and carried on packhorses. A trapper might come out of the woods in March with more wealth than the wages of a blacksmith or miller or weaver for a year’s work.




  In his late teens Daniel Boone became widely known in the Yadkin area as an expert trapper and hunter, a deadly marksman. When he brought his furs into the county seat at Salisbury to trade for lead and powder, a new gun or new horse, he liked to take part in shooting matches, which were very popular. Boone seemed to always win and was so sure of his prowess he demonstrated trick shots, such as holding out his rifle with one hand only and hitting the target. According to Stephen Aron, “The boldest supposedly outdid William Tell by aiming at targets placed between legs instead of atop heads; probably a tall tale but graphically illustrative of the connection between marksmanship and manhood.”




  Part of the legend of Boone at this time is the story of a young Catawba warrior named Saucy Jack, who was also proud of his reputation as a marksman. Apparently Boone had beaten him in a shooting match, or perhaps he just resented the reputation Boone had acquired. Inspired by whiskey on one of his visits to Salisbury, probably to sell his furs and hides, Saucy Jack bragged that he would kill this Daniel Boone to show who was the better marksman. As was often the case, Boone was away hunting at the time, but when Squire Boone was told of the threat he grabbed a hatchet and went looking for Saucy Jack. “Well, if it has come to this, I’ll kill first,” the old blacksmith and former Quaker said. Luckily someone told Saucy Jack that Squire was looking for him and the brave sobered up enough to disappear to his village to the south along the Catawba River.




  This story is significant because it not only illustrates the loyalty of the close-knit Boone family but also how Daniel himself was able to learn from his experience. In later life, when shooting with Indians, he was careful to let them win some too. “I often went hunting with them, and frequently gained their applause for my activity at our shooting matches. I was careful not to exceed many of them in shooting; for no people are more envious than they in this sport,” he told John Filson, his first biographer. This bit of wisdom almost certainly saved his life more than once and helped him survive in four months of captivity among the Shawnees in the late winter and spring of 1778. In general, Native Americans admired Boone as though he were one of their own and again and again showed him a particular respect. He returned their respect.




  By 1751 the Catawbas, for whom the river west of the Yadkin was named, were mostly living on a tract of land the British government had given them on the river near the South Carolina line. The “People of the River” were a Siouan nation and had been known as fierce warriors earlier, but in the eighteenth century they became peaceful and cooperative with whites and absorbed refugees from many other nations fleeing from white incursions. The Catawbas were admired by all for their basket making and pottery.




  Around this time, relations between Indians and whites on the western frontier began to be affected more and more by politics on a larger, even global scale. For almost two hundred years the rivals for dominance of North America had been Britain and France and Spain, countries now waging war on several other fronts as well, in what was called the Seven Years’ War. North of Florida and east of the Mississippi it was primarily a struggle between France and Britain. The English had settled most of the eastern seaboard from Maine to Georgia, establishing the thriving port cities of Boston, New York, Baltimore, and Charleston, as well as several cities at the fall lines of rivers where navigation stopped—Richmond, Albany, Philadelphia. The English had cleared land to raise tobacco, rice, cotton, and indigo. They’d built ships and hunted whales.




  Instead of clearing land and building cities, the French had developed the fur trade with Indians in Canada and as far west as the lands of the Dakota Sioux, sent missionaries and explorers, married with the Natives. The French claimed all the land west of the Appalachian Mountains and had built forts at Detroit and along the Mississippi River. Their influence spread west into the plains and south to New Orleans, where they encountered the presence of the Spanish.




  To strengthen their hold on the territories, both England and France formed alliances with the larger Indian nations. From the earliest times the English had allied themselves with the Iroquois, providing the Five Nations and then the Six Nations—with the addition of the Tuscaroras around 1722—with firearms, whiskey, trade goods. The Iroquois were a powerful confederation in what would become upstate New York, and they were effective in attacking the French and French allies like the Shawnees and Hurons. Many of the midwestern and Great Lakes Indians, such as the Shawnees, Mingoes, and Delawares, had earlier been driven out of their homelands by the English, and they were happy to side with the French against their old adversaries. The French encouraged their allies to attack the English settlements on the western frontier, and the English did not discourage their own allies, the Cherokees and Iroquois, from attacking the French and the French allies. The sorest point of contention in 1753 was western Pennsylvania, where the Allegheny and Monongahela rivers come together to form the Ohio, which the French called la belle rivière. Whoever could control the head of the river might dominate the wide river valley below. Everyone, including Virginians such as George Washington, had their eye on the meadowlands and rolling hills of the Ohio Valley, called the Middle Ground.




  Groups from the English colonies, such as the first Ohio Company and the Loyal Company, had already sent scouts into the region, hoping to claim the land and sell it to future settlers. Benjamin Franklin and others formed the Vandalia Company to claim land in the region. In 1750 Dr. Thomas Walker and a party for the Loyal Company crossed through Ouasiota, or Cumberland Gap, and wandered around the headwaters of the Big Sandy before returning to Virginia. If hunters such as James Patton had tried to keep the wilderness over the mountains a secret for their own enjoyment and exploitation, Walker had no such scruples.




  In the same year, the woodsman Christopher Gist, a neighbor of the Boones on the Yadkin, was employed by the Ohio Company to make a probing excursion into the Ohio Valley, almost twenty years before Boone and John Findley would go there. Important political leaders, like Gov. Robert Dinwiddie of Virginia and young George Washington (who was only two years older than Daniel Boone), had these western lands very much on their minds also. Joseph J. Ellis has written, “From 1754 to 1759, Washington spent the bulk of his time west of the Blue Ridge, leading a series of expeditions into the Ohio Country that served as a crash course in the art of soldiering. They also provided him with a truly searing set of personal experiences that shaped his basic outlook on the world.” Washington, only twenty-one then but already a surveyor and ranger, with scout Christopher Gist and four others, was sent by Governor Dinwiddie of Virginia to march into the western wilderness in 1753 to warn the French to stay out of territory the English claimed. Though it was the middle of winter, Washington and Gist found the French, who initially treated them with great courtesy and then told them to go to hell.




  The next summer, 1754, Washington was sent back into the wilderness with a small army to strengthen British claims there. But they found the French had already built a stockade, Fort Duquesne, at the forks of the Ohio. Washington won an initial skirmish with the French and their Indian allies and built a blockhouse called Fort Necessity about thirty miles from Duquesne, but he was later attacked by the French and forced to surrender and return unharmed to Virginia.




  In 1755 the British sent Gen. Edward Braddock to North America to assemble an army of British regulars and militia to drive the French out of Fort Duquesne and the western lands. Braddock had a considerable reputation as a military man, and he was confident he could expel the Indians and French trespassers. While in Philadelphia gathering his forces, he told Benjamin Franklin he was sure he could defeat the enemy in two or three days. Franklin warned him that Indians had their own way of fighting in the American backwoods. But Franklin later reported that Braddock “smil’d at my Ignorance, and reply’d ‘These Savages may indeed be a formidable Enemy to your raw American militia; but upon the King’s regular and disciplined Troops, Sir, it is impossible they should make any impression.’”




  A force of more than two thousand men was “embodied,” or brought together, from several colonies in June 1755 at Fort Cumberland in western Maryland. Maj. Edward Dobbs, son of the governor of North Carolina, brought a company from the western part of that colony, including Daniel Boone, who had joined as a teamster and blacksmith. Many people who would become important later were involved in the expedition to drive the French from Fort Duquesne. Daniel Morgan of Winchester, Virginia, who would later distinguish himself in the Revolution at the Battles of Saratoga and Cowpens, was there as a teamster for Washington’s militia, which would support Braddock’s army of regular soldiers. According to Daniel Boone’s son Nathan, his father said Daniel Morgan was a cousin of the Boones’, though modern scholars have not confirmed this claim.




  It may have been at this time that Boone was initiated as a Freemason. Masonry was popular in Virginia, and Washington and many of the other officers of the militia were devoted Masons. Washington had been initiated November 4, 1752, at the lodge in Fredericksburg, Virginia, and Boone may have joined there also in 1755. During the later Revolutionary period Washington would encourage the establishment of military lodges among his army. Masonry served as a bulwark against monarchy and feudalism, Roman Catholicism, and the emotional extremes of some Protestant sects, and offered a way to put in practice new ideas of fraternity, progress, rational thought.




  Thomas Gage, who would later serve as commander in chief of British forces in North America, was with Braddock as a young officer. Horatio Gates, who would later serve as a general with American forces in the Revolution, was also in the brigade. Dr. Thomas Walker, perhaps the first Englishman to find the gap called Ouasiota, which he renamed for the Duke of Cumberland, served as commissary for Brad-dock’s army. Among the men was a young trader named John Findley, who had gone down the Ohio to trade with Shawnees in Kentucky in 1752. He had seen the great meadows and the cane lands there, and he described them to young Boone.




  Braddock’s campaign seemed to be under a curse from the beginning. Moving clumsily through the forest with artillery and a long baggage train, in terrain fit only for packhorses, not wheeled vehicles, it took the column a week to travel the first thirty miles. Braddock was neither the first nor the last general trained in European warfare to be baffled by the obstacles and cover provided by the American woods. On July 9, 1755, Braddock’s army crossed the Monongahela and, marching to fife and drum, followed by many pieces of artillery, proceeded toward Fort Duquesne for a bombardment and siege. Suddenly the path ahead was blocked by French Canadians, and the woods on either side erupted with rifle fire. Bullets tore into the red and blue uniformed soldiers. Hit by fire from both sides and the front, Braddock’s force was helpless.




  It was an ambush that could have been avoided had Braddock used Indian scouts ahead and on either flank. A Delaware chief named Shingas had offered scouts if Braddock would assure him the Ohio Valley would not be settled by the English. Braddock had answered, “No savage should inherit the land,” and said that, besides, he did not need their help. With no videttes or flanking scouts, Braddock had marched into a death trap.




  It was reported later that the militiamen behaved better than the British soldiers once the attack began, perhaps because they were more familiar with woodland fighting. The soldiers panicked and began firing wildly, killing their own men. “Entire companies were wiped out by ‘friendly fire’ from British muskets. As Washington described it later, ‘they [militiamen] behaved like Men and died like Soldiers’ while the regulars ‘broke & run as sheep before Hounds.’”




  Many years later Nathan Boone said his father blamed Braddock for not using spies and guards on his flanks. As a teamster Boone was with the baggage train to the rear. As the surviving soldiers began to retreat, shoving and leaping over each other in a rout, the teamsters were trapped in the melee. The French and Indians rushed to take prisoners, and the teamsters, unarmed and responsible for the heavy baggage wagons, were helpless as wounded and frightened soldiers stumbled back past them. To save himself, young Boone cut his horses loose and rode after the fleeing troops.
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“Comprehensive and deeply sympathetic. The thoroughness and authority

ofBoone are beyond dispute." —JONATHAN YARDLEY, The \Vasbington Post Book World






